# Understanding the Perspectives of Refugee Unaccompanied Minors Using a Computer-Assisted Interview

#### Jeanette A. Lawrence, Ida Kaplan & Amy H. Collard

#### Key words:

computer-assisted interview; unaccompanied minors; wellbeing; goals; worry; refugee young people; textual analysis Abstract: This article reports analyses of the perspectives on their wellbeing expressed by four unaccompanied minor refugees resettling in Australia. We used a computer-assisted interview (CAI) to set up a research environment to facilitate young people's expressions and to treat them and their expressed perspectives with respect and integrity. Participants' data are represented in tables as full transcripts with CAI questions and tasks, and are analyzed using exegetical textual analysis. Analyses reveal similarities and differences in young people's themes and personalized concerns in relation to their life circumstances in resettlement. All four unaccompanied minors were worried about the families from whom they were isolated. Two young women who were humanitarian refugees were preoccupied with family separation and reunion, and also with their own inner states and behavior. Two young men who had been asylum seekers were focused on family and their own educational advancement. The value of the CAI approach is discussed in relation to criticisms of reductionism in quantitative and qualitative data; its ability to support young refugees to express their views with agency and confidence; and the representation of young people's expressed perspectives as a basis for understanding and for supportive programs.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 1. Overview

2. Introduction Rationale

- 2.1 Understanding the perspectives of refugee unaccompanied minors
- 2.2 The wellbeing of unaccompanied refugee young people
- 2.3 Respect and appropriate methods
- 2.4 Methodological approach: A computer-assisted interview
- 2.5 Expectations for textual analysis of young refugees' perspectives

#### 3. Method

- 3.1 Participants
- 3.2 Procedures
- 3.3 Data management and representation
- 4. Results
  - 4.1 Contrasting perspectives on personal wellbeing
  - 4.2 Themes in individualized profiles
- 5. Discussion
- 6. Conclusion

Acknowledgments

References

Authors

#### **Citation**

# 1. Overview

This article reports an innovative method of using a computer-assisted interview (CAI) and textual analysis to enable four refugee unaccompanied minors to express their perspectives on their wellbeing in resettlement in Australia. The report is organized in six sections. Section 2 gives an introduction and the rationale of the approach, pointing to the need to understand unaccompanied minors' perspectives on their own wellbeing (Section 2.1, 2.2); and with due attention to respect (Section 2.3). Section 2.4 describes our development of a computer-assisted interview that yields a form of qualitative data suitable for textual analysis enabling the voices of individual young refugees; and Section 2.5 the expectations for the analyses. Section 3 presents the method, describing the participants (Section 3.1), procedures (Section 3.2), and data management including the representation of complete texts of all questions and responses in tables (Section 3.3). Section 4 presents the results of the study in contrastive analyses of the perspectives of the four unaccompanied minors (Section 4.1) and the four individualized profiles (Section 4.2). Section 5 is the discussion of the results and Section 6 the conclusion. [1]

# 2. Introduction Rationale

Among the record numbers of people currently seeking refuge are many children, and among the children are many young people under the age of 18 years who arrive in new countries without parents or guardians. Resettlement in a new country is one of the UN High Commission for Refugees' (UNHCR) "durable options" for assisting these young victims of war and displacement to "rebuild their lives with dignity" (UNHCR, 2014, p.18). They start their new lives in a variety of circumstances that range from living with relatives or foster families to shared housing, but beyond having in common the absence of parental support, they are individuals with their own experiences and hopes (RESSLER, BOOTHBY & STEINBOCK, 1988). Accordingly, programs seeking to assist them to rebuild their lives and to promote their wellbeing need to be grounded in an understanding of what their lives involve and of their individual concerns, needs, and rights (MALMSTEN, 2014). Gaining such an understanding, however, largely depends on the availability of research that assists these young people to express their concerns, needs and hopes and that treats their contributions to knowledge with due respect (LAWRENCE, KAPLAN & DODDS, 2015). [2]

The available evidence on the perspectives of unaccompanied young refugees is limited and varied in its proximity to their experiences and perspectives (CARLSON, CACCIATORE & KLIMECK, 2012; HOPKINS & HILL, 2008; WERNESJÖ, 2011). At least two interacting factors limit the trustworthiness of information of their perspectives. On one side is the reticence by many of these vulnerable young people to reveal too much about their lives, especially to people who appear to them like authority figures (CHASE, 2013; KOHLI, 2006; NÍ RAGHALLAIGH, 2013). On the other side is the frequent inability of researchers to conduct research that facilitates refugee young people's self-expressions (LAWRENCE et al., 2015). This research addressed the aims of developing a

research environment that, with due respect, gives young refugees the means to express their perspectives; and then represents their perspectives appropriately. [3]

#### 2.1 Understanding the perspectives of refugee unaccompanied minors

The traumatic experiences of young refugees are well outside the normal transitional experiences of childhood and adolescence, and put at risk their present and long-term wellbeing (CHASE, 2013). The differences between their experiences and those of young people settled in their own families are exacerbated because these young people have to negotiate changes in cultural contexts, language, and social expectations, at the same time that they are adjusting to changes within themselves and their close relationships (GOODNOW & LAWRENCE, 2015; OPPEDAL, 2006). Their life circumstances are made more difficult because they have to manage ways through these multiple challenges without parental support. In these unusual and demanding circumstances, individual young people are likely to have developed personal views about what they need to help them feel that life is worthwhile. Like all young people, they are active in forming perspectives about what is happening in their social environments, especially about what is expected of them, and what they can expect for themselves (GOODNOW, 2014). Young people's understanding of their own wellbeing is an important aspect of their success in resettling. [4]

# 2.2 The wellbeing of unaccompanied refugee young people

Wellbeing is generally used as an umbrella concept that is variously defined and described to reflect the qualities of life and "the many possible dimensions of a good or bad life" (BEN-ARIEH, CASAS, FRØNES & KORBIN, 2014, p.1). When related to isolated young refugee's experiences, however, interpretations of their wellbeing are often unbalanced and focused on negative rather than positive dimensions of their lives (DERLUYN & BROEKAERT, 2012). Vulnerability and passivity, for instance, are emphasized more frequently than the independence and resilience that many young refugees display as the survivors as well as the victims of war and dislocation (NÍ RAGHALLAIGH & GILLIGAN, 2009). In focusing on these young people's sense of the quality of their individual lives in resettlement in isolation from their families, we paid attention to two specific aspects of their wellbeing that have opposing valences and often are mentioned by clients using refugee services: the worries that disturb a sense of wellbeing and the motivating goals that enhance it. [5]

Worries are intrusive thoughts that disrupt everyday life for refugee young people (McFARLANE, KAPLAN & LAWRENCE, 2011). They are a normal part of the ways that adults and children remember, anticipate and elaborate actual and possible events (MURIS, MERCKELBACH, MEESTERS & VAN DEN BRAND, 2002; VASEY, CRNIC & CARTER, 1994). Research on the worries of children and adolescents, however, has tended to focus on identifying pathological worries (e.g., worries related to post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety and depression) rather than on understanding the general and normal worries of childhood or the specific worries related to refugees' resettlement. There is little evidence about

the meanings young people give to their everyday worries (BACOW, PINCUS, EHRENREICH & BRODY, 2009). Refugee young people, however, seem to be willing to express the worries they carry with them as well as their losses, lack of interest or physical symptoms if they are asked appropriately (McFARLANE et al., 2011). MALMSTEN (2014), for example, found that unaccompanied minors living in Swedish transitional houses were willing to report their everyday worries in interviews that were carefully designed to ensure their confidence as well as their rights. [6]

Personal goals for the future also are often mentioned when refugee young people talk about what is important to them and what they are striving to achieve, often in relation to family and community connections, or education (McFARLANE et al., 2011). Goals and aspirations give meaning and direction to life, and are endemic to feeling good about one's life in the present as well as in the future (JOHNSON, BLUM & CHENG, 2014; WEISNER, 2014). Future orientations and goals are particularly important when young people live in challenging circumstances (SEGINER, 2009). Possibilities and hopes intertwine with other aspects of refugees' thoughts and help them "make sense" of events (BROUGH, SCHWEITZER, SHAKESPEARE-FINCH, VROMANS & KING, 2012). Being held in detention, for example, is deleterious to mental health, at least in part, because people's goals are thwarted and their feelings of hopelessness are heightened, and limitations on future possibilities detract from the quality of life in the present (COFFEY, KAPLAN, SAMPSON & TUCCI, 2010). General wellbeing and its positive and negative dimensions of worries and goals, accordingly, formed the theoretical basis of the study. The methodological focus involved constructing a method that would allow unaccompanied minors to report on their wellbeing with confidence and safety. [7]

# 2.3 Respect and appropriate methods

Refugee unaccompanied minors are due respect on the bases of their common humanity, their vulnerable status as children, and the particular vulnerability to further harm that follows from their traumatic experiences of flight from their homelands to foreign countries. Researchers who seek to understand their perspectives are under obligation to construct research environments, methods and measures that allow these young people to work on research tasks with safety and confidence (BEAZLEY, BESSELL, ENNEW & WATSON, 2009; LAWRENCE et al., 2015). [8]

That kind of research, however, is not uniformly found when researchers ask for information from refugee and migrant young people (GOODNOW & LAWRENCE, 2015). The concepts and research measures used within a dominant European, American or Australasian culture, for instance, do not easily transpose into suitable means of assisting young people from dispersed communities to express their ideas. There can be a particular mismatch if measures were developed and standardized for dominant white settler populations and sometimes, originally for adult populations (GOODNOW, 2014). [9]

Criticisms of the reductionism of quantitative analyses point to a failure to capture the meanings of individual research participants, especially those whose life circumstances put them at the edge of normative experience (e.g., SEPALI et al., 2015; TOOMELA, 2011). Qualitative research, however, also can be in danger of using a form of reductionism that relies on selective reporting of quotes from banks of participants' comments that essentially support the researcher's position. MORSE, (2010, p.3), for example, describes how this "cherry-picking" produces thin, reduced and potentially misleading qualitative analyses. PONTEROTTO (2006, p.547) pointed to the importance of providing "thick" instead of "thin" descriptions in qualitative analyses. "Thick descriptions" are marked by the provision of context that supports researchers' interpretation of meaning in participants' talk in interview studies, and give research participants "adequate voice" to convey their meanings. PONTEROTTO also argued that results that involve thick descriptions are dependent on the development of thick methodology that is specifically designed to give research participants appropriate ways to report their meanings and perspectives. [10]

# 2.4 Methodological approach: A computer-assisted interview

We developed a methodological approach specifically to enable refugee young people to express their thoughts about their wellbeing using computer-assisted interviews (CAIs) that would avoid reduced and unauthentic research information. The method supports the confidence, autonomy and privacy of young research participants by providing them with accessible and attractive tasks, and facilitates their expressions of their thoughts and feelings (e.g., BARROW & HANNAH, 2012; DE LEEUW, HOX & KEF, 2003). [11]

The CAI Young people living in Australia (LAWRENCE & KAPLAN, 2012) is theoretically oriented to asking young people about their wellbeing.<sup>1</sup> This CAI instantiates in research practice the principle of respect for refugee young people (the practical translations of respect are described in detail in LAWRENCE et al., 2015). It is built on the premises that young people have insights into their own wellbeing, and that they are able to contribute to the co-construction of knowledge. The use of multiple forms of data and theory-directed sequencing and branching tasks with illustrations and animations support requests for participants' perspectives. This attention to meanings and support for young participants' agency differs from a growing tendency to digitize standard questionnaires and interviews without changing the basic form of the stimulus materials. [12]

Young research participants are invited to work on questions and tasks presented digitally with a researcher beside them to assist but not take charge. Tasks include ratings with explanations of their meanings; animated scenes with follow-up questions; choices of alternative experiences with color-coded "yes," "no," or "not sure" responses; constructions of lists and diagrams with animated

<sup>1</sup> The approach to using the Young people living in Australia computer-assisted interview is described in LAWRENCE et al. (2015). The authors are willing to make the CAI available on request.

instructions; and typed, open-ended comments. These tasks were designed with input on language and concepts from cross-cultural and child advisors, and with technical expertise on its interface and procedures. This ensured the accessibility, attractiveness of the tasks and the CAI's suitability for assisting young people to express their thoughts and feelings. [13]

The CAI allows the downloading of a complete record as each research participant's individualized profile, allowing analysis of patterns across the full set of questions, tasks and responses as a participant's profile. This also allows comparisons of this participant's patterns of response to those generated by other participants. We see this profile as providing the context for thick descriptions, although responses to individual questions and tasks may be short and not over-taxing for young participants. [14]

Having the complete profile allows for the transparency and checking researchers' inferences in relation to specific questions and tasks. In this study, we were able to represent each participant's full profile in tabulated form. This makes it possible to analyze and interpret the themes in individuals' responses and to compare themes across individuals. VON EYE (2010) demonstrated that it is possible to investigate patterns in the expressed ideas that may be typical or atypical of any group, and we would add, typical or atypical of any individual research participant across a set of activities and questions. [15]

LAWRENCE and VALSINER (2003), for example, were able to trace through the full data sets of two police officers' responses to information about a shoplifting act by young shoplifter Mark as the information was progressively presented to them in a computer program. The officers made progressive ratings of levels of penalty and blame for Mark as they processed incoming pieces of information and accompanied their ratings with think-aloud running verbal commentaries. Qualitative analyses of the sequenced data revealed the officers' personally constructed versions of Mark's shoplifting act and character. They explained their ratings with personal meanings, transformations of the incoming information, and interpolations of their own material. Recent developments in digital presentation and tracking now make it possible for CAI interviews to flexibly follow participants' individualized lines of thought and ask them to give their meanings and interpretations in type-in boxes. [16]

# 2.5 Expectations for textual analysis of young refugees' perspectives

We treated each participant's whole research experience with the computerassisted interview as a text for analysis. WELSH (2009-2010) similarly used multiple sources of evidence as texts for analyzing beginning teachers' experiences. SCHOSTAK (2006) described how exegetical approaches can be used to uncover meanings and their contextual bases when analyzing qualitative data. We used a process of textual analysis with close reading of the whole text (transcript) to identify and interpret both common and individualized themes and features in these young people's perspectives on their wellbeing. The accompanying representational system, following LAWRENCE and VALSINER (2003), involved presenting all questions, tasks and responses in tables for analysis and scrutiny. [17]

It is reasonable to expect variability within any group of young refugees in relation, for example, to their age, cultural background, prior experiences of displacement, past and present family circumstances as well as to personal, cognitive and affective dispositions (GOODNOW, 2014; KAPLAN, 2013; McFARLANE et al., 2011). We also could expect variability from whether young people came as humanitarian refugees or as asylum seekers who in Australian conditions are detained in locked facilities until their status is determined. Our focus, therefore, was directed to comparative and thematic analyses of individual young people's perspectives. [18]

# 3. Method

# 3.1 Participants

Participants were four unaccompanied minors who were clients of Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture (VFST), an Australian non-government agency providing counseling, support and advocacy. Counselors obtained young people's willingness to be contacted by a researcher who explained the study and obtained their informed consent. These were the only adolescent unaccompanied minors currently involved with VFST that counselor-advocates could contact. We used identification numbers and minimal personal details to preserve participants' anonymity. [19]

*W1* was a 16-year-old Eritrean young woman who had arrived in Australia from Eritrea via Egypt two years previously as a humanitarian refugee. She now lived with an Egyptian foster family. Her brother lived across the city, two hours away by public transport and worked long hours. They could not often meet. [20]

*W*<sup>2</sup> was a 17-year-old Dinka young woman who was born in Sudan but had grown up in the Kakuma refugee camp in Kenya.<sup>2</sup> She had arrived six years previously as a humanitarian refugee and now lived with an aunt and cousins. She had been separated from both parents for years, and until recently had not known if they were alive. She now had contact with both parents who live separately in South Sudan. She financially supported her mother and a younger brother on a regular basis. [21]

*M3* was a 17-year-old Hazara young man who had come to Australia from Pakistan via Indonesia as an asylum seeker two years previously and received permanent residency after nine months in detention. He now lived with two other young men in shared accommodation. He saw little of the other residents who

<sup>2</sup> Dinka people live in clans in South Sudan. Many fled from Sudan to Kenya as refugees from war and persecution and live in the large Kakuma refugee camp in northwestern Kenya. The camp is administered by the UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). Agents of receiving countries like Australia process applications for humanitarian resettlement programs in the camp.

both worked at nights. His parents were still in Pakistan, and three sisters and an aunt and uncle lived in the U.K. He was in high school. [22]

*M4* was a 15-year-old Hazara young man from Afghanistan. He had arrived two years before as an asylum seeker and spent time in detention in Australia. He received permanent residency after five months. He now was living with friends in shared accommodation. He was in high school and highly focused on school and his educational aspirations to graduate from a high school where he could do advanced school studies in math and science subjects. [23]

#### 3.2 Procedures

The CAI introduces participants to a teenager, Aya (girl) or Ali (boy). Aya/Ali and all other story agents are culturally neutral and colored blue to avoid over- or under-identification. In simple English, the CAI uses illustrations and animations to present Ava/Ali's story in a series of situations with questions asking participants to comment on Ava/Ali's experiences and their own. The participant is told that Aya/Ali came to Australia after some bad things happened back in the home country. For example, one situation describes how Aya/Ali is worried about family members left behind in other countries, and another that s/he is worried about people at his/her present home who are sad, then angry. The CAI asks whether or not participants have experienced situations similar to those experienced by Aya/Ali and what they were like. It next tells participants that Aya/Ali's worries disrupt each of five typical adolescent activities (hanging about with friends, making friends, sleeping at night, getting out of bed, talking with adults). It then asks participants to construct personal casts of the people in their lives by clicking on standard figures (adult, adolescent, male and female children), and then giving each person a role (e.g., father, friend) using a pulldown menu. Later participants use this cast to build another diagram of who among their personal cast helps them. Then they are asked to identify what they would like to achieve or change in their lives in the next year and who can help them achieve that and how. [24]

The same woman graduate researcher conducted individual interview sessions presenting the young people with the CAI and offering any assistance with explanations or typing. Three sessions were in participants' homes and one at the agency. Participants controlled management of the CAI, including pace and whether and how they responded to questions. The researcher sat beside them to assist or explain on request. [25]

# 3.3 Data management and representation

For the textual analysis, we present all questions and tasks with all participant responses in three tables in numbered sequences so that the exegesis of the text is accompanied by keys to the primary data in the tables (e.g., Table 1.1 represents the first question and each participant's individual response to that

question).<sup>3</sup> The content of each question-and-response set is contextualized by other sets within the whole transcript and can be compared with sets from other participants. This textual analysis is similar to keyed exegetical analyses used in LAWRENCE and VALSINER (2003). Table 1 reports all data on participants' perceptions of their current happiness, and sources of worry, Table 2 the extent of their worries, and Table 3 their goals for the next year and patterns of help experienced. Reading across a row reveals similarities and differences in individuals' specific responses. Reading down a column reveals the themes and emphases of an individual participant. The entries in the tables retain the participants' individualized expressions, spelling and style as a mark of respect and authenticity. The textual analysis in the results section describes, exegetes and interprets the text of participants' comments, ratings, and constructions.

Table 1: Happiness and sources of worry expressed by four unaccompanied minors. Click <u>here</u> to download the PDF file.

Table 2: Extent of worry of four unaccompanied minors. Click here to download the PDF file.

Table 3: Helps and goals of four unaccompanied minors. Click <u>here</u> to download the PDF file. [26]

# 4. Results

We first contrastively examine the four unaccompanied minors' responses to questions and tasks as presented in the three tables within sections of the CAI interview, then analyze their individual perspectives, tracing out the themes and emphases they expressed. [27]

# 4.1 Contrasting perspectives on personal wellbeing

# 4.1.1 General wellbeing in Australia

The participants express different general perspectives on their wellbeing, with their choices and comments on their happiness in Australia, as shown in Table 1.1. Responses to a related question asked later are shown in Table 2.7 where the participants are asked: "Are things mostly OK or not OK?" and to choose one of three options: "mostly OK," "mostly not OK," or "a bit OK and a bit not OK." [28]

Two (W2, M4) say they are happy living in Australia, and also later choose the "mostly OK" option. W2 likes Australia, and for M4, everything "is cool." M3 is "not sure" if he is happy, explaining, "I miss my family a lot." He later chooses "mostly not OK." W1 revises an initial "yes happy" to "no." Her explanation refers to living with carers who are not her parents and missing her family. She later chooses the "bit OK, bit not OK" option. [29]

<sup>3</sup> Key to reading Tables: 1.4, 1.5 = Table 1.4 and Table 1.5; 2.3-2.6 = Table 2.3 to Table 2.6.

#### 4.1.2 Disrupting worries

All four worry about the safety of their families, relating their family experiences to those of Aya/Aya shown in Table 1.2, 1.3. The young men do not elaborate but both young women add personal details: W1 that her family also worries about her; and W2 that she has been separated from her family for a long time. [30]

W1 responds to four questions related to worries about people she lives with in Australia (1.4-1.6), by not answering the first general question, but by describing instead her worries about her family overseas, in general and about people being sad at home (1.4, 1.5). She then refers to her current living situation with carers when asked about people being angry at home, commenting that she does not "want to do anything that makes them angry." W2 also is concerned about people's anger. She is not worried about the people at her house except when they are angry, when, she says, "I feel uncomfortable" (1.6). [31]

The two young men do not worry about the people where they live. M3 never sees them (1.4), and can't worry about one who may be angry because "I am more worried about my family than him" (1.6). M4 is not worried about people where he lives, commenting, instead, about being happy, but potentially and actually bored (1.4, 1.7). [32]

The four young people generate different lists when asked for the three things they worry about most at home (1.7). W1 numbers the points she types, reiterating her family's safety, "them worrying about me," and what she calls "splitting family." W2 lists three worries, all related to her own behavior: "getting into trouble," "mistakes," and not sending money for her mother and brother. M3 lists family, studies, and loneliness. M4 identifies only one source of worry: his boredom at weekends. [33]

#### 4.1.3 Extent of worry

We computed an "extent of worry" score for each participant on their responses to questions about whether or not their worries disrupt their activities in five situations. The rating scores are shown in Table 2.2 with a range from 0 to 10, and Table 2.1 shows how each score is constructed. W1's score of 6 is relatively high, reflecting that her worries disrupt her sleep, but she is not sure about the other four situations. M3 has the maximum score (10), with "yes" disruption for all five situations. Both W2 and M4 have a low score of 2, but they construct them differently. W2 is not sure if her worries keep her from hanging out with friends or sleeping at night; M4's worries disrupt his sleep. [34]

When they are asked to rate Aya/Ali's level of worry (Table 2.3) and their own (2.4), and to explain their ratings, ratings are high (3) for W1 and M3; but low for W2 (2) and M4 (1). Only W2 gives different ratings for Aya's and her own worry (3 for Aya, 2 for herself). They all worry about their families, a theme already in their lists (see 2.5 in relation to 1.2, 1.7). W1 reiterates that she worries a lot about her own family, not the "other family" (her carers). She "can't stop thinking

about" her family's separation. W2's "2, more than a little bit" rating is triggered: "Everytime I hear the news." Her triggered worry is about her mother and other people in Africa. M3's high rating is because of "protection" for his family. M4 worries a little because of his distance from his family, "I'm alone in here." [35]

#### 4.1.4 Things that help

Responses vary about anybody or anything that helps them not worry (Table 2.6). For W1, family reunion is the "only solution"; W2 has "no idea"; M3 specifies "talk to someone my own age," and M4 school and family. There are differences also in what they need to feel better (Table 3.1). W1 needs her family, but in contrast to the other three participants, she sees help only in herself and "just God" (3.2-3.4). Her strategy for helping herself is to deal with her "moods," release her anger, try to comfort herself, and "I pray." W2 also is unsure of help, "I don't know if anyone can help me," but identifies a young male friend and an aunt who helps with distracting talk. M3 repeats that he needs talk, following-up his earlier comment that talking with someone his own age helps him to not worry (2.6). Now he adds "so it keeps my mind busy." His parents help him to "feel secure." Other sources of help also involve friends. M4 does not specify any needs, but identifies teacher, friends and family as his helpers who listen to his problems and guide him. [36]

#### 4.1.5 Goals to achieve

W1's goal for the next year is family reunion (Table 3.5), although she sees this as beyond her control (3.7). She lists the people (caseworker, lawyer, immigration) who can help her achieve that goal although she does not answer how, and she is uncertain if there is any other help (3.5-3.10). W2 also hopes for family reunion: to bring her mother "would change in my life" (3.5). She is doing her best, and the social worker is helping with her application. The goals of both young men are focused on their schoolwork. M3 sees his goal of achieving good marks in his final year as achievable by his efforts to "concentrate on my studies involves and stop worreying about my family"; and with good support from friends "in studying" (3.7, 3.10). M4 has specific goals related to his choice of school subjects and changing schools to make that goal more achievable (3.5). He sees these goals are achievable with "just the support" (3.7), adding his case manager to his helpers of teacher and friends who help with his schoolwork, and now leaving out family. [37]

M3 says he gets secure feelings from his family (Table 3.3), and other help from "making new friends" who can help socially and with his educational aspirations (3.4). M4 is helped to solve problems by his "school" and "my family," specifying teachers, friends and family (3.2-3.4). They also help with the schoolwork, and he adds his caseworker to people who give him "just support" (3.6-3.8). [38]

#### 4.2 Themes in individualized profiles

The four young people expressed some similar concerns and hopes and some that were personalized. All four focused their expressions of worry on isolation from their families, but gave individualized interpretations of their isolation in relation to their life circumstances. [39]

#### 4.2.1 Profile of W1

Reading W1's profile across the three tables reveals her preoccupation and fixed concentration on family separation and her hope for family reunion. She specifically summarizes these concerns in four points when explaining her high rating of worrying (3, a lot, at Table 2.4), and the concerns she lists there can be traced as a theme running through her responses to different questions and tasks. The links of her summary to other parts of the data can be seen in the following exegetical analysis of her expression at 2.5 in relation to other parts of the transcript:

W1's explanation of I worry a lot because (at Table 2.5)	Re-occurring mentions
I live with other family while my family is alive.	1.1, 3.1
I feel it is going to be long till I see and live with them.	3.1, 3.5
i really get concerned about their safety	1.2-1.4, 1.7
which I cannot stop thinking about.	1.4-1.5, 3.3-3.7 [40]

W1 mentions, as well, two closely related personal issues that are affecting her life. One involves not having concentrated on her "current activities like studying" (the only mention of her studies) that she attributes to her constant worry about her family (1.4). The other involves dealing with her own emotions: her "mood "anger with my self." [41]

#### 4.2.2 Profile of W2

W2 mentions her theme of hope for family reunion throughout, especially the hope of reunion with her mother (1.3, 2.5, 3.5). It is her goal (3.5), and she develops her account of what she needs to achieve it (3.6-3.9). However, earlier when specifying the three things she worries about most, at 1.7, she referred to her own behavior patterns, with a clear list:

W2's three things that worry her most (at Table 1.7) getting into trouble making a mistake if I haven't paid my mum or my brothers school fees [42]

Yet W2 does not refer to these explicit activities elsewhere in the interview. She does express concern about her own inner state, however, saying she is unsure "if anyone can help me," then proceeds to specify how her aunt and friend help by distracting her; "changing the topic make me laugh so I don't think about what just happened" (3.1-3.3). She does not specify the particular worry that requires

distraction. It may be the news about Africa (mentioned at 2.5); or her own behaviors from the 1.7 list; or something else. It would seem that instead of reiterating her personal concerns, W2 responds to the specific questions. She rates her worries as being "2, more than a little bit," with the content most about her mother, the trigger of African news. [43]

#### 4.2.3 Profile of M3

M3 makes several mentions of the theme of his loneliness: coupling missing his family with his concern about their safety (Table 1.1); and specifying "lonliness" in his 1.7 list. It also re-occurs in his gaining help not to worry from "talking to someone of my age" (2.6), and "it keeps my mind busy" (3.1). A second theme is his need to succeed in his studies (1.7, 3.5-3.7, 3.10); and a third involves how his worries are distracting and disruptive of his personal and social life (e.g., in the extent of his worries [2.1, 2.2]; and being distracted by his worries [1.6, 3.7]). [44]

#### 4.2.4 Profile of M4

M4's profile points to some different ways that he thinks about his family. He worries "a little bit" about their being in Afghanistan without security (Table 1.3) and also "too far from me" (2.5). Yet he lists family along with teachers and friends as those who currently help him with his problems and goals (2.6, 3.4, 3.7). This suggests he may be in touch with the family and able to draw upon their support for his focus on his education. [45]

M4 has a clear emphasis on his educational pursuits. His goals are specifically focused on a change to math and chemistry subjects and possibly a change of school that will make that possible (3.5). He specifies "just the support" as what he needs to achieve that achievable goal (3.6-3.7), and lists his supporters with repeated lists and some elaboration of their contributions (2.6, 3.4, 3.8, 3.9). He mentions his satisfaction with his current life, setting up that perspective in his initial comments (1.1), along with his boredom (1.4, 1.7), but he does not develop this as he emphasizes his schooling in Table 3 (3.5-3.9). [46]

In summary, the four profiles revealed both similarities and differences in these unaccompanied minors' themes and emphases. All four expressed concern about families still living in danger and about the effects of family separation on their present lives. This is not surprising. The CAI explicitly asked about worries for family left behind, and separation from family was a common feature of their life circumstances. Their expressions of worries, nevertheless, revealed added personalized issues: W1's way of turning questions onto her preoccupation with her own family to the exclusion of her foster family; W2's self-blame about her responsibilities; M3's intrusive loneliness, and M4's focus on his choice of school subjects. [47]

Along with family separation, family reunion figured largely in the young women's goals but not in the young men's. This difference may be related to their immigration status. The women had arrived as part of Australia's humanitarian

program and had entitlements to apply for family reunion that were not available for the young men who had arrived as uninvited asylum seekers. [48]

These differences also cannot be separated from gender. Both young women mentioned not wanting to cause anger in their carers, possibly reflecting their dependent status, but possibly also a sensitivity the men did not display. They denied any worry about the people where they lived. M3 had no capacity to worry about non-family members; M4 simply did not, he was happy with them. Their expressions may reflect either detachment or simply attention to more pressing preoccupations. Young men are often sent ahead with the responsibility of establishing themselves in advance to facilitate family arrivals. If that were the case for these two men, it also would have been part of their strongly expressed need to succeed educationally. [49]

It seems as if the normative transitional academic tasks of adolescence were eclipsed by the young women's exceptional circumstances, but were heightened for both young men. It would be difficult to see how W1 could have paid more attention to her studies, given her preoccupation and distraction by what she called her "splitting family." The young people's comments were contextualized in the specific circumstances of their backgrounds, means of arrival, and current living arrangements. [50]

# 5. Discussion

Enabling unaccompanied minors to express their concerns and hopes in research provides a basis for understanding the intricacies of their wellbeing, and thus a basis for better informed support and advocacy. The CAI approach allowed these young people to express their individual perspectives in a safe research environment that gave them control over the views they contributed to knowledge and control over the progress of the interview. They were able to make comments in their own terms and with their own emphases in response to questions and tasks that had been theoretically designed to focus attention on the worries and goals that may either disturb or promote a sense of wellbeing in young refugees. The textual analysis was able to make connections across earlier and later comments in the transcripts in exegeting and interpreting their comments in the context and meaning of the young people's individualized concerns, for example, in W1's preoccupation with family reunion. [51]

In addition to noting the impact of the traumatic circumstances of unaccompanied minors' transitions (KAPLAN, 2013), it is important to be aware of the resettlement circumstances, and to be aware of their personalized interpretations and aspirations within those circumstances. The future as well as current wellbeing of these young people was closely tied to their life circumstances as they interpreted them. The hopes and aspirations of other disadvantaged young people similarly helped shaped the present views from which they were emerging (e.g., COFFEY et al., 2010; SEGINER, 2009). Family reunion filled the minds of the young women in this study, eclipsing other concerns for the future and the present. Their wellbeing was tied to family reunion. [52]

The study also extends evidence of unaccompanied minors' perspectives by asking what they thought would help them to feel better. Although this is a question service providers often ask refugee and other disadvantaged clients, it is not a standard inclusion in research on wellbeing (BEN-ARIEH, 2005). The young people's clearly described needs for support and distraction are in line with the gravity of family separation and the experience of worrying about their families and themselves. [53]

While details of young people's perspectives on their resettlement may be revealed using other methods, the CAI method is particularly useful in enabling young participants to express themselves with confidence and agency. It allows young refugees to explore and report their worries without a researcher's probing and without implications of pathology. These participants controlled the flow and the pace of their work on the computer program, although the questions and tasks were predetermined to present particular topics. They were free to construct their own answers and in fact, not to answer if they chose. [54]

Three of these young people took up the opportunity to respond positively to a question asking whether they would recommend the computer program to a friend (W1 did not answer). Reasons again were individualized: "So those young people know what is this program about as well" (W2); "because it will help the[m] to express their feelings" (M3); "[t]his program asks about your head what you are thinking" (M4). They judged the experience to be worthwhile. [55]

Obviously, CAI-based data construction and analysis cannot address all the aspects of young people's resettlement experiences. It is a short and focused research tool, but it yields a complete record of their comments in context, avoiding the reductionism and cherry-picking that can impede the appropriate representation of young people's ideas (MORSE, 2010; SPYROU, 2011). Our interpretations and inference structures are transparent, meeting DÁVILA's (2014) criterion for researching refugee young people. The tabulated data also represent an advance on the LAWRENCE and VALSINER (2003) use of tabulated data, because of the multiple forms of expression this CAI made possible. For example, this CAI has the facility to follow participants' choices with branching sequences, to invite their typed, open-ended responses as well as providing well described choices. Although some of the data points may yield minimal information when considered in isolation, they yield a pattern of emphases and themes when considered as a full interview set. [56]

It may be seen as a limitation of our approach that there were only four participants: a small number even for qualitative analyses. These four were the unaccompanied minors who were current clients of the Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture. The provision of their complete profiles allowed these participants to pursue their own lines of reasoning and to generate their own patterns of response in context. We submit that these data and their transparent representation in context is a move towards a particular form of qualitative "thickness" where researcher interpretations are grounded in patterns of response both within and across participants (PONTEROTTO, 2006). The

representation of the complete transcripts in the tables makes researcher exegesis and interpretation transparent, and the keying to the tables allows the reader to inspect the interpretive process. [57]

Nevertheless, the data tables may be said to restrict us to a very small set of cases, but there are analytic procedures that would generate similar patterns for subgroups as a basis for further analyses in large samples (VON EYE, 2010). Profiles, for example, could be used to generate subgroups using techniques such as cluster analysis, and the clusters could then be compared for typical and atypical patterns. MARTINEZ-TORTEYA, BOGART, VON EYE & LEVENDOSKY (2009), for example, were able to represent and analyze typical and atypical patterns of details across people and across time in relation to children's experiences of family violence. The present data were generated at a single occasion and with a single interview. The approach readily lends itself to analyses of tracking changes across time. [58]

# 6. Conclusion

The dominance of family reunion in the thinking expressed by these four unaccompanied minors is directly in line with the principle of the unity of the family outlined by UNHCR (1983) that stated that unaccompanied minor children should be reunited with their parents or guardians as promptly as possible. The data reveal the significance of that mandate for the young people's resettlement and wellbeing. It also revealed the importance of taking seriously young people's perspectives and supporting their participation in decision processes. Youthful expressions of concern for family members and hopes for reunification should be seen as reasonable contributions to plans and procedures and never as indicators of pathology. There are obvious differences in what is involved in family reunification for individuals in the short-term (as hoped for by these young women) or long-term (as guiding these young men's pursuit of success). The policy implications are clear. Resettlement success is tied to family. The practical support of agencies needs to be geared to working appropriately towards this solution in ways that include isolated young people as participants in decision and advocacy processes. [59]

In conclusion, this study points to the value of constructing a research environment that specifically enables refugee unaccompanied minors to give their own perspectives on their lives in resettlement. Those perspectives are valuable as research information that extends our limited understanding and as a basis for programs that realistically support vulnerable young people to rebuild their lives. [60]

# Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the programming, artwork and animation contributed to the computer-assisted interview by Hugh CAMPBELL, AI MACINNES, and Cat MACINNES. This research was funded by The Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture with a grant to the University of Melbourne.

#### References

Bacow, Terry L.; Pincus, Donna B.; Ehrenreich, Jill T. & Brody, Leslie R. (2009). The Metacognitions questionnaire for children: Development and validation in a clinical sample of children and adolescents with anxiety disorders. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *23*(6), 727-736.

Barrow, Wilma & Hannah, Elizabeth F. (2012). Using computer-assisted interviewing to consult with children with autism spectrum disorders: An exploratory study. *School Psychology International*, *33*(4), 450-464.

Beazley, Harriot; Bessell, Sharon; Ennew, Judith & Watson, Roxana (2009). The right to be properly researched: Research with children in a messy, real world. *Children's Geographies*, 7(4), 365-378.

Ben-Arieh, Asher (2005). Where are the children? Children's role in measuring and monitoring their well-being. *Social Indicators Research*, 74, 573-596.

Ben-Arieh, Asher; Casas, Ferram; Frønes, Ivar & Korbin, Jill E. (2014). Multifaceted concept of wellbeing. In Asher Ben-Arieh, Ferram Casas, Ivar Frønes & Jill E. Korbin (Eds.), *Handbook of child well-being* (pp.1-27). Dordrecht: Springer.

Brough, Mark; Schweitzer, Robert; Shakespeare-Finch, Jane; Vromans, Lyn & King, Julie (2012). Unpacking the micro-macro nexus: Narratives of suffering and hope among refugees from Burma recently settled in Australia. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, *26*(2), 207-225.

Carlson, Bonnie E.; Cacciatore, Joanne & Klimeck, Barbara (2012). A risk and resilience perspective on unaccompanied minors. *Social Work*, 57(3), 259-269.

Chase, Elaine (2013). Security and subjective wellbeing: The experiences of unaccompanied young people seeking asylum in the UK. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *35*(6), 858-872.

Coffey, Guy J.; Kaplan, Ida; Sampson, Robyn C. & Tucci, Maria M. (2010). The meaning and mental health consequences of long-term immigration detention for people seeking asylum. *Social Science & Medicine*, *70*, 2070-2079.

Dávila, Liv T. (2014). Representing refugee youth in qualitative research: Questions of ethics, language and authenticity. *Diaspora, Indigenous, and Minority Education*, 8, 21-31.

De Leeuw, Edith; Hox, Joop & Kef, Sabina (2003). Computer-assisted self-interviewing tailored for special populations and topics. *Field Methods*, *15*(3), 223-251.

Derluyn, Ilse & Broekaert, Erik (2012). The wellbeing of unaccompanied minors. In David Ingelby, Allan Krasnik, Vincent Lorant & Oliver Razum (Eds.), *Health inequalities and risk factors among migrants and ethnic minorities* (pp.95-109). Antwerp-Apeldoorn: Garant.

Goodnow, Jacqueline J. (2014). Refugees, asylum seekers, displaced persons: Children in precarious positions. In Gary B. Melton, Asher Ben-Arieh, Judith Cashmore, Gail S. Goodman & Natalie K. Worley (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of child research* (pp.339-360). New York: Sage.

Goodnow, Jacqueline J. & Lawrence, Jeanette A. (2015). Children and cultural contexts. In Marc Bornstein & Tama Leventhal (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science* (pp.746-788). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

Hopkins, Peter E. & Hill, Malcolm (2008). Pre-flight experiences and migration stories: The accounts of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. *Children's Geographies*, 6(3), 257-268.

Johnson, Sarah R. Lindstrom; Blum, Robert W. & Cheng, Tina L. (2014). Future orientation: A construct with implications for adolescent health and wellbeing. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine & Health*, 26(4), 459-468.

Kaplan, Ida (2013). Trauma, development and the refugee experience: The value of an integrated approach to practice and research. In Katey de Gioia & Peter Whiteman (Eds.), *Children and childhoods 3: Immigrant and refugee families* (pp.1-22). Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars.

Kohli, Ravi K.S. (2006). The sound of silence: Listening to what unaccompanied asylum-seeking children say and do not say. *British Journal of Social Work*, 36, 707-721.

Lawrence, Jeanette A. & Kaplan, Ida (2012). Young people living in Australia. *Computer-assisted interview program, University of Melbourne & Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture, Australia.* 

Lawrence, Jeanette A. & <u>Valsiner, Jaan</u> (2003). Making personal sense: An account of basic internalization and externalization processes. *Theory & Psychology*, *13*(6), 723-752.

Lawrence, Jeanette A.; Kaplan, Ida & Dodds, Agnes E. (2015). The rights of refugee children to self expression and to contribute to knowledge: Respect and methods. *Journal of Human Rights Practice*, *7*(3), 411-429.

Malmsten, Jenny (2014). Unaccompanied children living in transitional houses—voices from Sweden. *International Journal of Migration, Health & Social Care*, *10*(1), 18-35.

Martinez-Torteya, Cecilia; Bogart, G. Anne; von Eye, Alexander & Levendosky, Alytia A. (2009). Resilience among children exposed to domestic violence. *Child Development*, *80*(2), 562-577.

McFarlane, Colleen A.; Kaplan, Ida & Lawrence, Jeanette A. (2011). Psychosocial indicators of wellbeing for resettled refugee children and youth: Conceptual and developmental directions. *Child Indicators Research*, *4*, 647-677.

Morse, Janice M. (2010). "Cherry-picking writing" from thin data. Editorial. *Qualitative Health Research*, 20(1), 3.

Muris, Peter; Merckelbach, Harald; Meesters, Cor & van den Brand, Karlijn (2002). Cognitive development and worry in normal children. *Cognitive Therapy & Research*, *26*(6), 775-787.

Ní Raghallaigh, Muireann (2013). The causes of mistrust amongst asylum seekers and refugees: Insights from research with unaccompanied asylum-seeking minors living in the Republic of Ireland. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 27(1), 82-100.

Ní Raghallaigh, Muireann & Gilligan, Robbie (2009). Active survival in the lives of unaccompanied minors: Coping strategies, resilience, and the relevance of religion. *Child and Family Social Work*, *15*, 226-237.

Oppedal, Brit (2006). Development and acculturation. In David L. Sam & John W. Berry (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of acculturation psychology* (pp.97-111). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ponterotto, Joseph G. (2006). Brief note on the origins, evolution, and meaning of the qualitative research concept "thick description". *The Qualitative Report*, *11*(3), 538-549, <u>http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol11/iss3/6</u> [Accessed February 2, 2016].

Ressler, Everett M.; Boothby, Neil & Steinbock, Daniel J. (1988). Unaccompanied children: Care and protection in wars, natural disasters, and refugee movements. New York: Oxford University Press.

Schostak, John (2006). *Interviewing and representation in qualitative research*. Maidenhead: Open University Press, McGraw-Hill Education.

Seginer, Rachel (2009). *Future orientation: Developmental and ecological perspectives*. New York: Springer.

Sepali, Guruge; Hynie, Mchaela; Shayka, Yogendra; Akbari, Arzo; Htoo, Shelia & Abiyo, Stella (2015). Refugee youth and migration: Using arts-informed research to understand changes in their roles and responsibilities. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(3), Art. 15, <u>http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fgs1503156</u> [Accessed: October 10, 2015].

Spyrou, Spyros (2011). The limits of children's voices: From authenticity to critical, reflexive representation. *Childhood*, *18*(2), 151-165.

Toomela, Aaro (2011). Travel into fairy land: A critique of modern qualitative and mixed methods psychologies. *Integrative Psychological & Behavioral Science*, *45*, 21-47.

UN High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) (1983). UNHCR Guidelines on reunification of refugee families, <u>http://www.unhcr.org/3bd0378f4.pdf</u> [Accessed: February 10, 2016].

UN High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) (2014). *Displacement: The new 21st century challenge*, <u>http://unhcr.org/globaltrends2013/pdf</u> [Accessed: March 6, 2015].

Vasey, Michael W.; Crnic, Keith A. & Carter, Wende G. (1994). Worry in childhood: A developmental perspective. *Cognitive Therapy & Research*, *18*(6), 529-549.

von Eye, Alexander (2010). Commentary: Developing the person-oriented approach: Theory and methods of analysis. *Development & Psychopathology*, *22*, 277-285.

Weisner, Thomas S. (2014). Culture, context, and well-being. In Asher Ben-Arieh, Ferran Casas, Ivar Frønes & Jill E. Korbin (Eds.), *Handbook of child well-being* (pp.87-103). Dordrecht: Springer.

Welsh, Benjamin H. (2009-2010). Text-based analytic philosophical analysis. *Curriculum & Teaching Dialogue*, *12*(1 & 2), 27-39.

Wernesjö, Ulika (2011). Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children: Whose perspective? *Childhood*, *19*(4), 495-507.

#### Authors

Jeanette LAWRENCE is a developmental psychologist and an honorary associate professor at The University of Melbourne. Her research is in personal and social development across the lifecourse, with particular interests in intergenerational relations and the developmental experiences of children and young people from refugee backgrounds and their need for a suitable voice for expressing their well-being. She has expertise in developing culturally-appropriate research methods, specializing in the development of computer-assisted interview techniques.

*Ida KAPLAN* is a clinical psychologist and the director of Direct Services at Victoria Foundation for the Survivors of Torture and Trauma. She is a specialist in trauma, especially for refugees and asylum seekers.

*Amy COLLARD* is a social worker with background and research in developmental psychology. She is a counsellor-advocate at Victoria Foundation for the Survivors of Torture.

Contact:

Jeanette A. Lawrence

Melbourne School of Psychological Sciences The University of Melbourne Melbourne, Vic., 3010, Australia

Tel.: 61-3-83446351 Fax: 61-3-93476618

E-mail: lawrence@unimelb.edu.au

Contact:

Ida Kaplan

Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture 4 Gardiner Street Brunswick, Vic., 3056, Australia

Tel.: 61-3-93880022 Fax: 61-3-92777871

E-mail: kaplani@foundationhouse.org.au

Contact:

Amy H. Collard

Victorian Foundation for the Survivors of Torture 4 Gardiner Street Brunswick, Vic., 3056, Australia

Tel.: 61-3-93880022 Fax: 61-3-92777871

E-mail: collarda@foundationhouse.org.au

#### Citation

Lawrence, Jeanette A.; Kaplan, Ida & Collard, Amy H. (2016). Understanding the Perspectives of Refugee Unaccompanied Minors Using a Computer-Assisted Interview [60 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *17*(2), Art. 6, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs160268.